

# American Politics



# Learn about:

- The basics of American political history
- The roles and responsibilities of the president, Congress, and Supreme Court
- Elections and political parties
- American politics and the world stage

## Dr Matthew Alan Hill

Senior lecturer in History, Liverpool John Moores University





## by Dr Matthew Alan Hill

Senior Lecturer in History, Liverpool John Moores University



#### **American Politics For Dummies**®

Published by: **John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.,** The Atrium, Southern Gate, Chichester, <a href="www.wiley.com">www.wiley.com</a>

This edition first published 2014

© 2014 John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, Chichester, West Sussex. *Registered office* 

John Wiley & Sons Ltd, The Atrium, Southern Gate, Chichester, West Sussex, PO19 8SQ, United Kingdom

For details of our global editorial offices, for customer services and for information about how to apply for permission to reuse the copyright material in this book please see our website at <a href="https://www.wiley.com">www.wiley.com</a>.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, except as permitted by the UK Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988, without the prior permission of the publisher.

Wiley publishes in a variety of print and electronic formats and by print-on-demand. Some material included with standard print versions of this book may not be included in e-books or in print-on-demand. If this book refers to media such as a CD or DVD that is not included in the version you purchased, you may download this material at <a href="http://booksupport.wiley.com">http://booksupport.wiley.com</a>. For more information about Wiley products, visit <a href="www.wiley.com">www.wiley.com</a>.

Designations used by companies to distinguish their products are often claimed as trademarks. All brand names and product names used in this book are trade names, service marks, trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective owners. The publisher is

not associated with any product or vendor mentioned in this book.

LIMIT OF LIABILITY/DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTY: WHILE THE PUBLISHER AND AUTHOR HAVE USED THEIR BEST EFFORTS IN PREPARING THIS BOOK, THEY MAKE NO REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES WITH THE RESPECT TO THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF THE CONTENTS OF THIS BOOK AND SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIM ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. IT IS SOLD ON THE UNDERSTANDING THAT THE PUBLISHER IS NOT ENGAGED IN RENDERING PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND NEITHER THE PUBLISHER NOR THE AUTHOR SHALL BE LIABLE FOR DAMAGES ARISING HEREFROM. IF PROFESSIONAL ADVICE OR OTHER EXPERT ASSISTANCE IS REQUIRED, THE SERVICES OF A COMPETENT PROFESSIONAL SHOULD BE SOUGHT.

For general information on our other products and services, please contact our Customer Care Department within the U.S. at 877-762-2974, outside the U.S. at (001) 317-572-3993, or fax 317-572-4002. For technical support, please visit <a href="https://www.wiley.com/techsupport">www.wiley.com/techsupport</a>.

For technical support, please visit <a href="https://www.wiley.com/techsupport">www.wiley.com/techsupport</a>.

A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library.

ISBN 978-1-118-92051-0 (hardback/paperback) ISBN 978-1-118-92112-8 (ebk) ISBN 978-1-118-92113-5 (ebk)

Printed in Great Britain by

# American Politics For Dummies

#### **Visit**

<u>www.dummies.com/cheatsheet/ameri</u>
<u>canpoliticsuk</u> to view this book's cheat sheet.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **Introduction**

**About This Book** 

**Foolish Assumptions** 

**How This Book Is Organized** 

Part I: Running Down the Basics of American Politics

Part II: Discovering How the American Government Functions

Part III: Glimpsing Elections and Political Parties

Part IV: Investigating American Politics and Society

Part V: Looking Into American Politics on the World Stage

Part VI: The Part of Tens

Icons Used in This Book

Where to Go from Here

## Part I: Running Down the Basics of American Politics

#### **<u>Chapter 1: Witnessing the Birth of America</u>**

Recounting the Events That Birthed a Nation

<u>Dear George: The Declaration of Independence</u>

The backstory: Opposing colonial power

How to Be a Democracy: The Manual

Founding forethoughts

Employing a republican state and thwarting tyranny

Defining 'we' the people

<u>Issues Facing Modern America</u>

America on the World Stage

# <u>Chapter 2: Recognising the Constitution as a Living, Breathing Document</u>

#### Setting the Stage for a New Kind of Government

The spluttering first Constitution

The Constitutional convention

#### Understanding the Government the Constitution Built

Defining the legislature

Outlining the executive

Defining the judiciary

#### <u>Creating a Limited Government, and Other Major Concerns of the</u> Framers

Putting auxiliary precautions in place

Amending the Constitution

#### Ensuring the Survival of the Constitution

A symbol of unification

'Short, ambiguous and imprecise'

Original intent vs. a living document

#### The Downsides of the Document

Out of date and unworkable

Inefficient and paralysis inducing

# <u>Chapter 3: Grasping the Structure of Democracy in Action</u>

#### Situating America within the Modern Democratic Family

Parliamentary democracy

Presidential democracy

#### **Examining American Politics Today**

<u>Liberalism in general</u>

American liberalism

Contemporary American political ideologies

American political parties: Two behemoths and a spate of also-rans

# Part II: Discovering How the American Government Functions

# <u>Chapter 4: Exploring the President's Role as Executive</u>

#### **Understanding the Executive Branch**

President

**Executive Office of the President** 

Vice president

Cabinet

#### <u>Discovering the Powers (and Limitations) of the Presidency</u>

Defining executive powers

<u>Understanding presidential powers</u>

<u>Judging What Makes a Good President</u>

#### **Chapter 5: Considering the Power of Congress**

**Understanding Congress** 

Powers of Congress to check and balance

Grasping the make-up of Senate and House

Enumerated vs. implied power

#### Sussing Out the Structure of Congress

<u>Committees</u>

The power of the chair, and committee composition

Congressional staff

Supporting agencies

**Looking at Political Parties in Congress** 

Viewing Public Perceptions of Congress

# <u>Chapter 6: Sibling Rivalry: Congress and the Executive</u>

Outlining Powers of the Congress and the Executive

<u>How Congress and the Executive Address Domestic and Foreign Policy</u>

Domestic policy

Foreign policy

#### <u>Chapter 7: Understanding the American Court</u> <u>System</u>

#### Glimpsing the American Court System

The state courts

The federal courts

#### <u>Understanding the Supreme Court</u>

Explaining how a case makes its way to the Supreme Court

Dealing with a case

#### Looking into the Politics within the Supreme Court

Analysing the political world that surrounds the Supreme Court

Leveraging the make-up of the court

Presidential power to appoint

Senate confirmations

Throwing influence within the Court

Making a well-timed exit

Recognising that a justice may be active or passive

#### Revisiting Supreme Courts in the Modern Era

The Warren Court (1953-1969)

The Burger Court (1969-1986)

The Rehnquist Court (1986-2005)

The Roberts Court (2005-)

#### **Chapter 8: How Does an Idea Become a Law?**

#### Taking a Bill from Idea to Introduction

Bringing ideas to the table

Submitting the idea: Bills and resolutions

Introducing the bill

#### Referring the Bill to Committee

Investigations and sub-committees

Marking up or killing the bill

#### Taking a Bill onto the Floor of the First Chamber

<u>Debating a bill in the House of Representatives</u>

Moving a bill onto the Senate floor

#### Taking the Bill to the Second Chamber

Passing the bill to the other chamber

Meeting of the minds: The conference committee

#### And the Small Matter of the President's Signature (or Not)

Enrollment and presidential action

Overriding a presidential veto

When Do the People See a Bill in Action?

# <u>Chapter 9: Is It Too Much? Deconstructing the Layers and Levels of Government</u>

Introducing Federalism: The Basis for American Government

Reviewing the Levels of Government

Local

State

<u>Federal</u>

Considering Criticisms of Government Bureaucracy

**Understanding Opposition to Large Government** 

#### Part III: Glimpsing Elections and Political Parties

#### **Chapter 10: Working through the Electoral Process**

Sorry, How Many Elections Did You Say?

Local

State

<u>Federal</u>

#### **Presidential Elections**

Electoral College system

A step-by-step guide to presidential elections

#### **Congressional Elections**

A step-by-step guide to Congressional elections

Incumbents, challengers and open elections

Re-districting and gerrymandering

#### **Chapter 11: Understanding the Two-Party System**

Outlining the Role of Political Parties in the Modern Era

<u>Tracing the American Party System from Its Beginnings</u>

The First Party System (1790s-1810s)

The Second Party System (1820s-1850s)

The Third Party System (1850s-1890s)

The Fourth Party System (1890s-1930s)

The Fifth Party System (1930s-present)

## <u>Considering a Decline of the American Party System Since the 1960s</u>

**Examining Modern Democrats and Republicans** 

The role of the modern political party

Two broad churches: Divisions of the major parties

#### Chapter 12: Taking a Look at Voting Behaviour

Discovering the Impact of Demographics on Voter Turnout

**Ethnicity** 

Gender

<u>Age</u>

Education

#### <u>Using the Past to Understand the Present and Predict the Future</u>

**Ethnicity** 

Location

<u>Age</u>

Gender

Income

## <u>As Demographics Shift, Democrats Get the Edge (and Republicans Strategise)</u>

Expanding share of votes and turnout

Earning votes from other factions

Glimpsing possible outcomes

# <u>Chapter 13: Considering the Influence of Interest</u> <u>Groups and the Media</u>

#### Understanding the Collective Power of an Interest Group

Theories explaining interest group politics

Types of interest groups

Shaping policy and opinions

Recognising what makes an interest group successful

#### Looking at the Role of the Media in American Politics

Media ownership and its political impact

Politicians manipulating the media

<u>The Three Amigos: Combining Interest Groups, the Media and Politics</u>

#### <u>Part IV: Investigating American Politics and Society</u>

#### <u>Chapter 14: Investigating Race and Multiculturalism</u>

One Nation, Many Identities

Ethnic and racial make-up of America

Native Americans: Manifest destiny and marginalisation

The African American's role as a slave

#### Celebrating the Civil Rights Movement

Moving America into civility

Immigration reform

Multiculturalism

## <u>Defining Life in America Today through the Lens of Race and Ethnicity</u>

Employment and unemployment

Education

Prison population

# <u>Chapter 15: Examining Fault Lines in American Society</u>

<u>Looking at the Big Five Issues in American Society from Two Different Angles</u>

**Reviewing Gun Control** 

The gun control lobby

The pro-gun lobby

What the American public thinks

#### **Considering Capital Punishment**

Death penalty abolitionists

Death penalty supporters

What the American public thinks

#### Addressing Abortion Rights

Political polarisation on the issue

The pro-life argument

The pro-choice argument

What the American public thinks

#### Taking a Look at Gay Rights

Striving for marriage equality

Gay rights and national security

What the American public thinks

#### Scrutinising Healthcare

Healthcare in the past

Healthcare reforms under Obama

What the American public thinks

# <u>Chapter 16: Understanding the Impact of Financial</u> and Economic Crises

Boom to Bust: Economic Cycles

The Great Depression

The Great Recession

The bursting of the housing bubble

September 2008 and the Collapse of Lehman Brothers

Obama's plan

Affecting American Interests - and Economies Far and Wide

Connecting the Dots between the Great Depression and the Great Recession

## <u>Part V: Looking Into American Politics on the World Stage</u>

### <u>Chapter 17: Revealing the American Mission</u>

Understanding the Role of Foreign Policy

Spreading the Ideas of an Exceptional State

Religion and Secularism in Making America Special

Religious identity of America's mission

Secular identity of America's mission

#### Glimpsing the American Mission

Promoting liberalism and democracy

Opposing evil in the world

Developing a pacific international system

Combining Values and Interests

# <u>Chapter 18: America and the World Today: A Brief Survey</u>

#### Family Bond: The US and the UK

Changing roles in international relations

Great friends defined through leaders

Next-Door Neighbours: The US and Canada

The Shared Democratic Ideals of the US and Australia

Push and Pull between America and Israel

The Long Association between the US and China

Stuck in Time: America and Cuba

#### <u>Chapter 19: Analysing 9/11 and Contemporary</u> <u>American Foreign Policy</u>

Setting the Scene: The End of the Cold War and Post-1991

Recounting the Day That Changed Everything: 11 September 2001

The hijackers, their leader and their explanation

How the world responded to 9/11

#### Understanding Bush's Foreign Policy Response to 9/11

The Bush Doctrine

Afghanistan and the ascendancy of the Bush Doctrine

Moving on to Iraq

Treatment of prisoners

#### Taking a Look at Obama's Version of a Post-9/11 Foreign Policy

Obama's successes

Obama's failures

More of Obama's foreign policy actions

Reducing the role of democracy promotion

#### **Part VI: The Part of Tens**

# <u>Chapter 20: Ten Political Scandals That Shook the</u> Nation

Bill Clinton and Monica Lewinsky (1998)

The Florida Election Debacle (2000)

Illinois Governor Rod Blagojevich Selling Obama's seat (2009)

Keating Five Savings and Loan Scandal (1988)

Iran-Contra Affair (1985-1987)

National Surveillance Scandal (2013 and Onwards)

ABSCAM Scandal (1978-1981)

Pentagon Papers (1971)

Teapot Dome Scandal (1920-1923)

Nixon and Watergate (1971-1974)

# <u>Chapter 21: (Almost) Ten Candidates Who Came Up Short</u>

Hillary Clinton (2008)

Barry Goldwater (1964)

Patsy Mink (1972)

Wesley Clark (2004)
Sarah Palin (2008)
Herman Cain (2012)
William Jennings Bryan (1896)
Michael Dukakis (1988)
Eugene Debs (1920)

About the Author
Cheat Sheet

# Introduction

Welcome to American Politics for Dummies.

Growing up in Britain in the 1980s and 1990s, my first memories of America were from popular culture. I remember watching *ET, SpaceCamp* and *The Goonies*, and loving every minute of their optimistic and adventurous views on American life. I wanted to be a part of that world, wanted to go to high school in Middle America, play baseball and drive a car at an early age. Life was so much more exciting over the other side of the pond than here in Britain.

It was this love of American popular culture that started me on the path to discovering American politics and society. I began to think about the backdrop to these and other movies, about how actors could become political figures, and how America was a superpower dictating world affairs. I wrote this book as an introduction to the US – to give you an idea of the rich and complicated world that is American history and politics.

# About This Book

To make your reading experience go smoothly, *American Politics For Dummies* follows a few important rules. For example, new terms show up in *italics*, followed by their definitions. A key word or term in a bullet list stands out in **bold**.

Sometimes, I couldn't resist including information that is interesting but not critical to your understanding of American Politics – maybe a story about a major player in government or excerpts from a speech that had an impact. You see these bits in shaded grey boxes. I hope

that you find them interesting, too, but feel free to breeze right by them if not.

Throughout the book, I direct you to further information where it might come in handy. So, for example, when I talk about election cycles in Chapter 12, I might direct you to Chapter 10, where I go into detail about elections of all kinds.

# Foolish Assumptions

To write this book, I had to make a couple of key assumptions about who you are. I assumed that you have an interest and some knowledge about America, and I assumed that you're interested in learning more about its history and politics. For those of you who feel that your understanding of America is limited, don't worry. We all have to start at the beginning sometime, and I wrote this book keeping you in mind. It's not a difficult read, but it is comprehensive, and with each chapter, I'm sure you'll have a better grasp of what's happening in the American political realm.

# How This Book Is Organized

This book is organised in six parts to give you a review of the most important subjects you need to know when learning about America.

# Part I: Running Down the Basics of American Politics

What's the very best place to start? The beginning, naturally. The chapters in this part give you an overview of the key elements that explain what America is and how it operates. I show you how the country came to be, including the fears and hopes that led to the construction of the constitution, which is the defining document for American government. I also give you a sense of how the government is structured in a federal sense and within the states.

# Part II: Discovering How the American Government Functions

The founders of the United States of America worked hard to ensure that they created something new, something that would correct what they saw as the wrongs of British rule in the early days of the colonies. In doing so they created a complicated system of many layers. I show you how those layers function together (and in opposition) and examine whether the system is overloaded.

# Part III: Glimpsing Elections and Political Parties

Giving the people input into who runs their government is an essential part of American government, but it has become an incredibly complicated one as the country expanded and grew more diverse. The chapters in this part of the book give you the details on how elections work, including the ways in which two major political parties have come to dominate the political process. I show you the predictable ways in which people vote according to details like where they live and how old they are. I also discuss some of the politics behind politics, like how interest groups work to curry popular favour.

# Part IV: Investigating American Politics and Society

Giving the people the power to vote means that all the basic human talents and shortcomings – all the difficulties of reaching agreement and making things happen – are magnified and scrutinised on the world stage. In this part of the book, I talk about changing views regarding race, and I tell you about issues wherein agreement continues to elude politicians and the people they serve. I also talk about tough economic times and the ways government has worked to coax the country through them.

# Part V: Looking Into American Politics on the World Stage

America doesn't operate in a vacuum. In fact, its actions and reach are a major part of the world political scene. In this part, I talk about America's mission abroad, its special relationships with various countries, and the ways that America sees and protects itself have changed since the terrorist attacks of 9/11.

## Part VI: The Part of Tens

SEIGURES

Every *For Dummies* ends with top ten lists of quick, fun, and weird or surprising information. I used mine to cover major political scandals and interesting candidates who ran for office but didn't quite make the grade.

# Icons Used in This Book

Those little pictures in the margins are intended to make this book even easier to navigate by calling your attention to certain types of information. I use the following icons throughout *American Politics For Dummies*.

American politics is full of memorable characters (and many that the citizens would prefer you forget). Whenever I highlight the actions or speech of one of them, I put this icon next to the tale.

The way politics operates in theory and the way it plays out in real life are sometimes two different things. Wherever I talk about the politics behind the politics, you see this icon.

Some concepts come up again and again because they're so important to your understanding of the topic. I want you to be able to find those quickly and so highlight them with the icon you see here.

I didn't resist every authorly urge to go deeply into a topic here or there, but you're welcome to skip those bits. When the information gets particularly detailed, I alert you with this icon.

# Where to Go from Here

Forget everything you know about reading a book. Well, maybe not everything. But this book is structured so that you can jump in anywhere you like. If you're the kind of reader who has to start at page one and keep turning pages until you hit the back cover, then by all means do. Because this book is also a reference tool, however, you'll get just as much out of it if you flip around according to whatever seems interesting at any given moment.

I wrote each chapter to stand on its own, and so you don't need other chapters or previous knowledge to understand what you're reading. Want to know more about the challenges universal health care has faced in American politics? Flip right over to Chapter 15. Maybe the courts are your cup of tea. You find my rundown of the American court system in Chapter 7. Curious about cycling? Well, you're on your own there.

Enjoy the journey!

# Part I Running Down the Basics of American Politics



Visit <a href="www.dummies.com">www.dummies.com</a> for free access to great Dummies content online.

# In This Part ...

- ✓ Trace a new republic's emergence form 13 British colonies.
- Understand the what, how and why of the political system the Americans established in the new world.
- Examine the US Constitution as it was being produced and as it's viewed today
- ✓ Dig into the roles liberalism and political parties play in American government.

# Chapter 1 Witnessing the Birth of America

### In This Chapter

- Describing the emergence of the new nation
- Considering the meaning of democracy
- Considering issues in contemporary America
- Explaining the emergence of the US on the world stage

The United States isn't your typical nation; it didn't emerge from a long process of interactions between a mix of geography and culture, as was the case in Europe. The nation emerged from a fight for liberty – a fight that was based on a new way of dealing with relations between a government and its people. And today, if you look around the globe, you can see how much influence the American concept of government has had. Around half of the nearly 200 countries in the world are democracies, and many of these have emulated the American political system.

This chapter takes you on a sweeping tour of all things American. I identify how America came to be this revered nation by examining its historical and philosophical roots, describe key domestic debates facing the nation today and discuss the role of US involvement on the international stage.

# Recounting the Events That Birthed a Nation

The United States came into being when it publicly declared its independence on 4 July 1776. But that was the culmination of a lot of struggle and growth, and the emergence of the 13 colonies that became the first 13 states of the new nation – and a letter that changed politics for generations to come.

# **Establishing the 13 colonies**

The first English settlements in North America were established by companies under the guidance of King James I in order to make money. Two principal companies were given charters: the London Company and the Plymouth Company. The London Company established the Jamestown colony in 1607 in Chesapeake Bay, in what became Virginia. Ten years later it began to grow tobacco, and by 1619 had employed African slave labour. This land had been appropriated from the Native Americans without much consideration for the fact that the company was effectively stealing it. By the 1630s Virginia had been joined by Maryland, founded by Lord Baltimore.

The Plymouth Company was less successful, and its settlement in what's now Maine was abandoned shortly after its establishment. Not until 1620 were the English successful in establishing a settlement – in Plymouth, Massachusetts. These settlers were the famous Puritan separatists who fled England aboard the *Mayflower*.

By 1630, the Massachusetts Bay Company had been established in the area in and around Boston by more Puritan settlers. These settlers were given a charter to govern themselves. Interestingly, anyone considered a freeman and able to vote or hold office had to be a Puritan Christian. Some colonists left and established new colonies; those that thought Massachusetts was too religiously restrictive did so and created Rhode Island in 1636, and settlers who thought it wasn't strict enough formed Connecticut in the same year and New Haven a year later.

The English passed a series of laws – the Navigation Acts – in the latter half of the seventeenth century. These laws ensured that most goods or raw materials transported from one English colony to another had to be carried by English or English colonial ships, and goods such as tobacco and fur intended for sale to other colonies and European powers had first to pass

through England and be taxed. While this arrangement was good for England, which saw an expanding Royal Navy dominate the high seas as a result of this wealth creation, the American colonists were less pleased. They complained because the laws restricted their ability to produce manufactured goods and to trade with other colonies in other nations. Just like today, people who think they're paying too much for something will find cheaper ways of getting it. In this instance, smuggling of goods in and out of the American colonies was the result. Smuggling was a source of tension over the next 100 years and eventually led to the American Revolution.

# Dear George: The Declaration of Independence

The Declaration of Independence was probably the greatest child-seeking-divorce-from-parents-letter ever to have been written, and one of only a few to have been written by a colony to its former ruler. To cap it off, the declaration of love lost was made public on an international scale.

Written and passed by the Continental Congress (see Chapter 2) on 2 July and published on 4 July 1776, the Declaration starts by explaining that any group wishing to separate from a former ruler needs to provide reasons for doing so. The Declaration begins with the classic sentence, 'We hold these truths to be self-evident, that all men are created equal, that they are endowed by their Creator with certain unalienable rights, that among these are life, liberty and the pursuit of happiness.' Of course, the founders' definition of 'all men' really meant White men and not women or other races. Broadening the scope came much later in the life of America, and I discuss part of that struggle in Chapter 14.

The Declaration goes into great length outlining the injuries inflicted by George III, including refusal to pass laws for the common good, restricting justice and economic growth, and the destruction of colonial lives

and property by mercenary armies and insurrections. The Declaration then suggests that the colonists have repeatedly pleaded with the British to grant them greater respect but have found their response wanting.

Finally, the colonists declare they are free people by granting themselves absolution 'from all allegiance to the British Crown' as a new nation with 'full power to levy war, conclude peace, contract alliances, establish commerce, and to do all other acts and things which independent states may of right do.'

# The backstory: Opposing colonial power

The Declaration arose from an environment of increasing discontent. From the mid-1700s, colonists were frustrated with the British controlling their destiny. Combined with steady population growth – 2 million people by the early 1760s – was a growing economy and a desire among colonists for further territorial expansion. However, colonists were constrained by a series of British Acts, taxes and royal proclamations that fuelled increasing resentment of colonial rule.

The year 1763 was important in signalling the beginning of the end for British colonial America. The Seven Year War (1756–1763) pitting European powers against each other was echoed in North America as the French and Indian War. It was a battle between the French and the British for colonial domination of the region, and the British won. With the defeat of the French, the colonists believed they could thus expand the territory under their control. However, fearful of Native American rebellion in response to such expansionism, in 1763 King George III

issued a royal proclamation forbidding it. Siding with the Native Americans, George III declared that colonists on these lands would have to be removed and, adding to the perceived insult, they would have to help pay for the building of military outposts to protect the border they didn't want.

In the next two years relations between the British colonial powers and the colonists were further inflamed when a series of Acts sought more revenue from the colonies and greater control over their affairs. In 1765, for example, the Stamp Act – used to finance troops based in the colonies – was the first direct tax applied to the colonists. They responded by submitting petitions and boycotting British goods. They also established groups such as the Sons of Liberty, which rebelled against colonial power. Their argument was that without representation in Parliament taxation should not be applied.

By 1767 further Acts had asserted British control over the colonies, and a growing number of colonists were refusing to pay taxes. At one protest against taxes in 1770, British troops killed five people. Referred to as the Boston Massacre, this event became the beacon of resistance against British control. Simultaneously, London relented and repealed all Acts except taxing tea. In December1773, in an incident known as the Boston Tea Party, a group of men dressed as Native Americans raided the East India Company ships docked in Boston and dumped their cargo of tea into the harbour.

Parliament then introduced the Intolerable Acts, severely restricting the powers of the Massachusetts government by placing it under Crown control. In response, the colonists organised themselves and held the First Continental Congress, in Philadelphia in 1774. Twelve of

the thirteen colonies sent delegates (Georgia declined), and although disagreements occurred about whether to seek a resolution with Britain or to request legislative parity or separation, they were united in their opposition to Britain's increasing dominance. The Congress issued a declaration on how it wanted Britain to respond to its grievances, and declared it would meet again the following year if the demands weren't met. Before it met again, however, British troops had attempted to seize patriot weapons and the revolution began.

The Second Continental Congress met in 1775, organised the Continental Army and established George Washington as its commander. A year later, on 4 July, the Congress published the Declaration of Independence, assumed the functions of government and began appointing ambassadors, signing treaties, raising an army, seeking loans from European lenders and issuing money. The battle of Yorktown in October 1782 signalled the end of the war, with General Washington accepting the surrender of the British general, Cornwallis.

In February 1793 the British declared an end to hostilities and in September signed the Treaty of Paris recognising the United States of America as a new nation. The child was officially divorced from its parents.

# How to Be a Democracy: The Manual

Creating a new state brought new issues to be addressed, including what the state would look like, how it would respond to the fear of tyrannical rule, and what type of relationship would be formed between government and the people.

# Founding forethoughts

In any new game, the rules of play have to be worked out. And new games don't appear in isolation from the experiences of the people developing them; they're driven by those people and experiences. In the case of democracy, the new game developers were also known as the *founding fathers* and were responding to the grievances of the colonists in the 13 colonies. In the wake of their squabbles with King George III, they feared a tyrannical and absolutist leader who dictated terms and did not listen to the needs or wants of the people. Thus, they drew on Enlightenment political philosophy, otherwise known as liberalism, which was being discussed at the time in Europe.

Liberalism proposed a radical reinterpretation of the relationship between the people and those who governed. It suggested that, rather than the ruler having sovereignty and their subjects having to obey them, the people were sovereign and the government was there to work on their behalf. (Chapter 3 tells you more about liberalism.)

Key to ensuring that the government was working in the interests of the people was limiting the powers of the government. The new nation would enshrine individual rights in a Constitution in order to ensure that the government was unable to expand its powers.

# Employing a republican state and thwarting tyranny

First and foremost, the founders wanted to establish a state that responded to the needs of the people. They sought to do this by establishing a political system that enabled the people to have their voices represented through elected officials, while also diluting the concentration of power into a federal system that separated powers of government into three branches:

- Executive, which enforces the law of the land and is led by the president (see Chapter 4)
- ✓ Legislature, which makes the law (see Chapter 5)
- ✓ Judiciary, which enforces the law (see Chapter <u>7</u>)

Although they liked the idea of democratic government, the founders were also cautious of democracy, associating it with mob rule enabling the majority to dominate all others. In order to avoid this situation, they introduced rights that protected individuals and states.

By dividing the powers of the central government into the legislature, executive and judiciary, the Constitution encouraged struggles between the three branches. In addition to dividing the duties of government into separate branches, the Constitution also details the powers to check and balance the other two branches. Chapter 2 tells you more about these checks and balances.

The Constitution also divided powers between the central (federal) government and the states:

✓ The federal government is responsible for safeguarding civil society from external and internal threats, and for protecting people's individual rights.

Each state government is independent and has its own responsibilities for ensuring that the individuals within its constituency are protected.

Government was divided this way in part as a legacy of the colonial states exercising their own authority in their own areas, and partly because it would ensure that these two levels would compete with each other and ensure that power wasn't concentrated in one area. Thus if one of these two layers of government were to infringe people's rights in some way, those people could then turn to the other layer to address their concerns.

The rights protecting the individual and individual states from the tyranny of the majority were enshrined in the first 10 amendments to the Constitution – collectively termed the Bill of Rights. Chapter 2 covers the Constitution and the Bill of Rights in detail.

# Defining 'we' the people

You'd be forgiven for thinking that the phrase 'we the people' used in the Declaration of Independence covered every adult living in the country. But the situation wasn't that simple. Defining who the people are – in other words, who has the rights afforded by the US Constitution – depends on individual and cultural beliefs. The social and political upheavals in US history have had a dramatic impact on who the predominant US culture designates as a member of the 'we' and not the 'others' category.

Race and ethnicity have had a huge impact on the institutional and social development of the American political, economic and cultural system. It's not just a story about how the political system saw the need for change in what constituted 'the people'; it's also about